ASSIGNMENT OF ,ERROR

Assignment ofError

1. The trial court' s refusal to grant the defendant' s timely and

unequivocal demand to act as his own attorney denied the defendant his right

of self-representation under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and

United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment. 

2. The trial court violated the defendant' s right to speedy trial under

CrR 3. 3 when it continued the trial in order to allow new counsel to prepare

in lieu of granting the defendant' s timely, unequivocal demand to represent

himself and go to trial on the date already set. 

3. The defendant' s conviction should be reversed and the case

Issues Pertaining to Assignment ofError

1. Does a trial court' s refusal to grant a defendant' s timely and

unequivocal demand to act as his own attorney deny that defendant the right

of self - representation under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and

United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment? 

2. Does a trial court violate a defendant' s right to speedy trial under

CrR 3. 3 If it continues a trial in order to allow new counsel to prepare in lieu

ofgranting that defendant' s timely, unequivocal demand to represent himself

or herself and go to trial. on the date already set? 

3. Does a trial court' s decision to hear a motion to continue a trial date

and a motion to commit a defendant for a competency evaluation violate that

defendant' s right under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, to be

present at every critical stage of proceedings when the court hears and

decides the motions without allowing the defendant to be present? 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Taetual History

The defendant lives at 13151 Independence Road SW in a rural area

outside the city ofRochester in south west Thurston County and has for many

years. RP 215 -217, 257 -259'. Two trailers and a shed sit on the property, a

portion of which borders the Chehalis River. RP 105 -109. The defendant

has been friends for many years with two individuals by the names of Mark

Christensen and Arthur Parrish who also live in rural Thurston County. RP

215- 217, 257-259. On December 15, 2012, Mr. Christensen went out to the

defendant' s place to visit with him. RP 223 -227. As he drove up into the

long dirt driveway he accidentally slid into the defendant' s truck. Id. When

the defendant came out Mr Christensen showed him what had happened and

said he would take care of the damages. Id. According to Mr. Christensen

they had a pleasant visit and he left after about 20 minutes. rd. 

Later that day Mr. Christensen was driving on Independence Road by

the defendant' s property when he heard what he believed was a shotgun

The record on appeal includes two volumes of continuously
numbered verbatim reports of the hearing held on 2120/ 13, the CrR 3. 5

hearing and bench trial held on 5128/ 13 and 5129113, and the sentencing
hearing held on 6/ 4/ 13. These are referred to herein as " RP [ page #]." The

record on appeal also includes five other individually numbered volumes for
the pretrial hearings held on 1/ 30113, 2112113, 2 /28/ 13, 5 /2/ 13 and 5/ 16/ 13. 

They are referred to herein. as " RP [ date] [ page #]." 
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going off. RP 229 -232. He didn' t think much of it and drove on. Id. The

next day Mr. Christensen had occasion to visit Mr. Parrish at his home. Id, 

Once he arrived he commented on hearing the shotgun blast the day previous

and the two of them looked at Mr. Christensen' s truck.. RP 233 -234, 263- 

266. When they did they saw what they believed to be marks from shotgun

pellets on the bed and on one rear tire of the truck. Id. After inspecting the

damage they drove into Rochester. Id. The return trip again brought them

along Independence Road by the defendant' s property. RP 241 -245, 268 -270. 

As they drove by they saw the defendant standing outside his trailer holding

a shotgun. Id. 

According to Mr. Christensen the defendant had just existed one of

the trailers. RP 241 -245. According to Mr. Parrish the defendant had been

away from the trailer holding the shotgun and he ran up to a location next to

the trailer. RP 268 -270. However, while the two were not in agreement as

to how the defendant ended up next to the trailer they were both in agreement

as to what happened next. RP 241 -245, 268 -270. According to both Mr. 

Christensen and Mr. Parrish as they passed by the defendant pulled up the

gun and shot at them. Id. A number ofpellets from the shotgun hit the hood

and grill of the vehicle. Id. Both men thought that the defendant intended to

kill them. Id. After the shot Mr. Christensen drove to Mr. Parrish' s home

where they called the sheriffs office. Id. A deputy arrived in response to this
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call, took their statements, inspected the truck and then called for backup to

help arrest the defendant. RP 155 - 1. 76. 

Once out at the defendant' s residence a number of deputies ordered

the defendant to come out of his trailer, which he did_ RP 179 -182. They

then placed him under arrest. Id. They later searched. the defendant' s

trailer' s pursuant to a warrant and found a . 22 caliber rifle, a shotgun and

related ammunition. RP 183 - 185. In fact the defendant has a 1976 Thurston

County conviction for second degree burglary and a 2009 Thurston County

conviction for unlawful possession of a firearm. RP 250 -255. 

Procedural History

By information filed on December 26, 2012, and later amended on

May 24, 2013, the Thurston County Prosecutor charged the defendant with

two counts of second degree assault while armed with a firearm and two

counts of second degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 17 -18, 83 -84. 

On December 26, 2012, the defendant appeared in court for arraignment with

his appointed attorney Les Ching. CP 19, 21. At that time the defendant

entered a plea of not guilty to each charge and the court set a trial date of

February 19, 2013, CP 20. The defendant was then in custody and remained

so during the entirety of these proceedings. RP 5128113 12 -14, 

On January 17, 2013, Attorney Ching filed a written motion to

withdraw stating that he could not continue representing the defendant
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without violating the Rules of Professional Conduct. CP 26 -27. On that

same day the parties appeared before the court on the motion, which the court

granted. CP 29. The court' s written order granting the motion further states

that OAC will appoint another attorney as soon as possible." Id. Twelve

days later on January 29, 2013, the Office of Assigned County entered a

Notice indicating that it had appointed Attorney Richard Woodrow to

represent the defendant. CP 32. The next day Mr. Woodrow filed his Notice

of Appearance, a Demand for Discovery, and the Defendant' s Omnibus

Application. CP 34, 35 -42, 43 -45. 

On January 30, 2013, the parties appeared before the court with the

defendant now represented by Mr. Woodrow, RP 1130113 1. At that time

Mr. Woodrow informed the court that he had met with the defendant, that the

defendant refused to accept him as his attorney, and that the defendant

demanded the right to represent himself. RP 1130113 4 -5. On this basis Mr. 

Woodrow moved to withdraw. Id. The court then inquired of the defendant, 

who twice demanded the right to represent himself. RP 1/ 30/ 13 5 - 6, 14. In

spite ofMr. Woodrow' s statements and the defendant' s demands to represent

himself the court did not engage in any colloquy with the defendant about

self - representation. RP 1/ 30113 1 - 14. Rather, the court told the defendant

that it would not even consider his request to represent himselfunless he first

put it in writing. RP 1/ 30/ 13 5 -6; CP 48. The court then granted Mr. 
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Woodrow' s motion to withdraw and did not appoint a new attorney for the

defendant. RP 1/ 30/ 13 7; CP 49. 

After granting Mr. Woodrow' s motion to withdraw the court asked

him whether or not the current trial date was " reasonable." RP 1/ 30113 7. 

Mr. Woodrow replied: " I don' t believe it would be for an attorney coming on

board, Your Honor." Id. At this point the defendant twice objected to any

continuance of his trial date. RP 1130/ 13 8 -9. The defendant' s statements

were as follows: 

THE COURT: Thank yon. And I believe -- correct me if I' m

wrong, Mr. Englund. But I believe the last time that you were before
the court asking — or agreeing with the motion ofcounsel to withdraw

from your case, you understood that that may very well mean an
extension of dates, including the trial date; right? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: I' m sorry? 

THE DEFENDANT: What would you mean an extension? No. 
What' s that? 

THE COURT: You understood that your agreement with the

request to allow your counsel to withdraw may mean that the trial
date would continue out further than when it currently is. 

THE DEFENDANT: If it has to be -- a speedy trial is 60 days. 

THE COURT: I' m sorry. I can' t hear you. 

THE DEFENDANT: It should still be a fast, speedy trial, 60
days. 

THE COURT; So you are not in agreement with the continuation
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of the trial? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

THE COURT: You are not? 

THE DEFENDANT: No. 

RP 1/ 30/ 13 8 -9. 

At this point the court found good cause for a continuance, struck the

current trial date, set a new trial for the weep of March 11, 2013, and set an

attorney status hearing" for February 12, 2013. RP 1/ 30113 9. The court' s

written order on this ruling states: 

CP 27. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Jury Trial in this case is
hereby continued to the week of March 11, 2013 and the Status

Hearing is continued to March 6, 2013 at 9 a.m. This continuance is
granted on the basis of the court having found good cause, in that a
determination still needs to be made concerning the legal
representation of the defendant in this cause and the present trial date

for the week ofFeb. 19, 2013. At attorney status hearing is scheduled
for Feb 12, 2013, 

On February 12, 2013, the defendant again appeared before the court

for the attorney status hearing. CP 30. The court' s minute sheet and the

verbatim report of this hearing lists " James Shackleton" of the Office of

Public Defense as the defendant' s attorney. CP 50; RP 2/ 12/ 13 2. However, 

Mr. Shackleton stated on the record that he was not appearing as the

defendant' s attorney. Id. His statement was as follows: 
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THE COURT: Mr. Shackleton, you are not appointed on this

matter. 

MR. SHACKLETON: That' s my understanding, that we' re here
for attorney status conference. Is that right? 

RP 3112113 3. 

After making this clarification and receiving a summary from the

prosecutor the court undertook a colloquy with the defendant. RP 3112113 4- 

S. The initial portion of this colloquy went as follows: 

THE COURT: Mr. Englund, Judge Murphy set the date today as
attorney status hearing to determine how you're going to proceed in
this matter. Previously, you had two different lawyers appointed to
represent you, and, based upon my reading of the record and based
upon the statements by the prosecutor, Mr. Powers, at least at the
hearing in front of Judge Murphy at the last hearing, you indicated
you wanted to represent yourself in this matter. Is that correct? 

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah, I do. 

THE COURT: I need you to speak up a little bit. 

THE DEFENDANT: Yes. 

THE COURT: Okay. Today, is it your indication or your desire
that you represent yourself in the two cases that are before the Court, 

or are you requesting that the Court appoint counsel to you again
under both cases to represent you? 

THE DEFENDANT: I' ll represent myself. 

THE COURT: All right. And Mr. Englund, Judge Murphy
ordered that if you wanted to represent yourself, then you needed to

file a motion in both of your cases and set forth your reason for

requesting that you represent yourself. And I' ve reviewed the file, and
it does not appear that you have filed any such motion. Have you filed
the motion that Judge Murphy ordered? 
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THE DEFENDANT: No. 

RP 3/ 12113 4 -5. 

At this point the defendant admitted to the court that he had never

studied the law. RP 3112/ 13 4 -5. The court then reviewed each charge and. 

each potential penaltywith. the defendant, who stated that he understood each

charge and each potential penalty. RP 3/ 12/ 13 5 - 9. The court theta informed

the defendant that if he represented himself he would be " on his own ", that

he would be subject to the rules of evidence, that he would be subject to the

rules of criminal procedure and that ifhe wanted to testify on his own behalf

he would have to ask himself the questions he answered. RP 3/ 12/ 13 9 -11. 

The defendant acknowledged each of these warnings. M. The following

gives the end of the colloquy along with the court' s refusal to allow the

defendant to represent himself: 

THE COURT: At this point, I need to advise you that, in the

Court' s opinion, you would be far better served if you were defended

by a trained lawyer than. representing yourself. It' s unwise to
represent yourself. You face extremely stiff penalties if, in fact, you
are found guilty. You are not familiar with the law. 

THE DEFENDANT: Well, I know — 

THE COURT: Don' t interrupt me. You clearly don' t know the
rules of evidence based upon the statements you made to the Court. 

It does not appear that you kaaow the rules of criminal procedure, and

because you' re facing such a stiff penalty, it appears that you would
be better served by being represented by a lawyer. Is it still your
desire to represent yourself and give up your right to be represented
by a lawyer? 
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THE DEFENDANT: Yeah. The procedure is illegal all the way
through. 

THE COURT: I. couldn' t hear you, I'm sorry. 

THE DEFENDANT: It' s all illegal all the way through. You' re
trying to prosecute the innocent. Innocent. You go too far with it. 

THE COURT: First of all, this Court isn' t charging anyone or

anything. That is the job for the state of Washington. This Court
simply conducts the cases that come before it, and I do not find that
you have the ability to represent yourself in this matter. I' m denying
your right to represent yourself, and I'm going to appoint the Office
of Assigned Counsel to represent you in this matter. I' m sorry. 

RP 3112113 11 - 11

The court then entered the following written order denying the

defendant' s demand to represent himself: 

CP 52. 

On this date, the defendant appeared for an Attorney Status

Hearing. The Defendant requested to represent himself in. this matter. 
Based upon. the Court' s colloquy with the Defendant, the Court

FNDS that the defendant would not have the capacity to
understand and follow the procedural rules in this matter and would

thereby be unable to provide for his defense. Therefore, the Court

ORDERS that an attorney shall be chosen by the Office of
Assigned Counsel to represent the defendant in all further

proceedings in this Cause. 

Pursuant to the court' s order the case was called for review on

February 20, 2013. RP 7. At that time the prosecutor appeared as did the

defendant' s new appointed attorney Margaret Brammall. Id. However the
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defendant was not brought into the courtroom. Id. Rather, both attorneys and

the judge signed an order requiring an evaluation by Western State Hospital

at the defense attorney' s request. RP 7 -8; CP 54 -55. The following gives

the entire transcription of that hearing. 

RP 7 -8. 

THE COURT: Is Mr. Englund present? 

MS. BRAMMALL: Your Honor, he is in custody. I don' t believe
he needs to be brought up. We' re entering a Western State order
because I believe he' s incompetent. 

THE COURT: And there are two separate matters, correct? 

MS. BRAMMALL: Correct. 

THE COURT: Mr. Powers? 

MR. POWERS: Yes, Your Honor. The state' s in agreement with
the request of the defense for a competency evaluation. 

THE COURT: And are there any contested matters with regard
to the order? 

MS. BRAMMALL: No, Your Honor, 

THE COURT: I' m signing those two orders at this time. 

MR. POWERS: Thank you, Your honor. 

THE COURT: Thank you. 

Apparently the defendant did not agree with the court signing the

Western State order because eight days later the state put the matter on for

hearing on its motion to have the defendant remanded to Western State
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Hospital because he had refused to cooperate with an evaluation attempted

at the Thurston County jail. RP 2/ 20/ 13 1 - 11. The court signed the requested

order. CP 54 -55. Two months later the parties again appeared and invited

the court to enter an agreed order finding the defendant competent. RP

5/ 2/ 13 4 -5. The court signed the order. RP 5/ 2/ 13 4 -5; CP 65. The court

then set a trial date of May 28, 2013, to which the defendant twice objected

on the basis that any trial date set was out of the time for speedy trial. RP

5/ 2/ 13 4, 5. 

Following entry of the order of competency defendant' s appointed

attorney filed a motion and supporting affirmation asking the court to

reconsider its decision refusing to allow the defendant to represent himself. 

CP 69 -70. Counsel' s affirmation stated as follows: 

1. I am over 18 years of age and I represent the Defendant in the

above - entitled cause. 

2. On February 12, 2013 this Court, the Honorable Christine
Schaller presiding, entered an order denying Defendant' s request to
represent himself in this matter after conducting a colloquy with the
defendant and determining that he would not have the capacity to
understand and follow the procedural rules sufficiently to provide for
his own defense. 

3. Since then, the defendant has undergone an inpatient

evaluation at Western State Hospital. In a report dated March 25, 

2013, Dr. Lezlie A. Pickett opined that " There was no clinical

evidence available to suggest that Mr. Englund would lack the

capacity to understand that nature of the proceedings against him or
that he lacked the capacity to assist counsel." She describes his

congnitions as " clear, logical, and goal - directed" and states that he
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was able to provide a rational explanation of his defense strategy. 

4. Since the defendant was initially denied the right to represent
himself, he has stated his intent not to cooperate in any way with
assigned counsel. I am his third appointed attorney and although he
did talk to me on one occasion and was polite, he declined any offer
of assistance. 

5. 1 have given defendant a 3 -page letter containing relevant
legal research and, an analysis of his case. I believe that the research

I provided combined with his own defense strategy will enable him
to defend himself with as good a result as could be obtained by an
attorney. I will be happy to provide other assistance as required in the
capacity of standby counsel. 

6. 1 informed Mr. Englund that he face over 13 years

incarceration if he loses at trial compared with a plea offer of an 18- 

month sentence on lesser charges. 

CP 70. 

On May 16, 2013, the parties appeared before the court on the new

motion for self - representation. RP 5116/ 13 L During this hearing

defendant' s counsel argued that the defendant did have a constitutional right

to represent himself, that there was no basis to deny this right, and that the

court should engage in a new colloquy with the defendant. RP 5116113 3 - 6. 

The court refused a new colloquy and denied the motion. RP 5/ 16113 7 -8. 

Although the record is somewhat unclear, apparently up to this point the

unlawful possession of firearn-is charges had been filed under a separate cause

number. RP 5116113 8 -9. After denying the defendant' s request for self- 

representation the court granted a defense motion to consolidate all of the
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charges under one cause number. RP 5/ 16/ 13 8 -9; CP 79. 

On May 28, 2013, the court called the case for hearing under CrR 3. 5. 

RP 1 - 22. After testimony from two officers and the defendant the court ruled

that all of the defendant' s statements would be admissible at trial. RP 22- 64, 

65 -71. Following this hearing the defendant indicated that he wanted to

proceed to trial before the bench instead of a jury. RP 73 -75. The defendant

then signed a jury waiver after which the court engaged in a colloquy with the

defendant. CP 128; RP 75. The case then proceeded to trial before the bench

with the state calling nine witnesses and the defendant testifying as the only

witness for the defense. RP 78 -323. These witnesses testified to the facts set

out in the preceding factual history. See Factual History, supra. 

Following the close of the defendant' s case the parties presented

closing arguments. RP 324 -347. At this point the court rendered its verdicts

finding the defendant guilty on each count. RP 347 -356. The court also

found the firearms enhancements proven. Id. The court later entered written

findings of fact and conclusions of law in support of its decision in the case. 

CP 146 -156. About a month after trial the court imposed a sentence within

the standard range. CP 169 -179. The defendant thereafter filed timely notice

of appeal. CP 140. 
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ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT' S REFUSAL TO GRANT THE

DEFENDANT' S TIMELY AND UNEQUIVOCAL DEMAND TO ACT

AS HIS OWN ATTORNEY DENIED THE DEFENDANT HIS RIGHT

OF SELF - REPRESENTATION UNDER WASHINGTON

CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE 1, § 22, AND UNITED STATES

CONSTITUTION, SIXTH AMENDMENT. 

Under both Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United

States Constitution, Sixth Amendment, a defendant in a criminal proceeding

is guaranteed the right to self representation. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 

806, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 ( 1975); State v, Woods, 143 Wn.2d

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