No. 44958-7-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION TWO

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ALLEN GENE ENGLUND,

Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

The Honorable Carol Murphy, Christine Schaller, and Gary Tabor,  
Judges

Cause Nos. 12-1-01749-6 and 12-1-01752-6

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Carol La Verne  
Attorney for Respondent

2000 Lakeridge Drive S.W.  
Olympia, Washington 98502  
(360) 786-5540

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

RP 18-19.

Through his counsel, Englund objected to the court's earlier ruling that he could not argue to the jury that a convicted felon may legally possess firearms. RP 21.

It is clear from reading the record, and would have been even more obvious to the judges who observed Englund's manner in court, that he had no intention of observing the rules of evidence or following instructions of the court. He was totally focused on his irrational belief that his right to possess firearms could not be, and was not, taken away from him. No matter the question, that was his answer. During the suppression hearing that immediately preceded the bench trial, his counsel argued that he did not waive his *Miranda*<sup>4</sup> rights knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently because he so strongly held this erroneous belief. RP 65.

Englund's behavior during the suppression hearing confirmed the conclusion that Englund would not conduct himself in

---

<sup>4</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966)

an appropriate manner in the courtroom and would not follow the judge's order that he not argue a position that was not the law. On direct examination, in response to his attorney's question about whether he had any idea his beliefs might be incorrect, he responded:

No. I've always had gun rights ever since that felony happened. The judge split the decision, the felon under a survival act law, and he should have dismissed the charges on it. Instead, he let us keep our gun rights and then he made us do 30 days on jail time. And from thereafter, everything else was their fault, that felon in possession. I got gun rights. I won't go on that level where, you know, I'll be like the state kidnap people, throw them in jail, you know, and see that's kidnapping, you know, that's too high up there. They're the ones that charges were against not the innocent.

RP 56.

On cross examination during the suppression hearing, Englund simply would not answer the questions that were asked. He continually responded with *non sequiters*, repeating like a broken record his claim to have the right to possess firearms and to do whatever he wished on his own property. For example, when asked if he remembered a game officer coming onto his land in October and talking to him about fishing poles, he answered, "On my land I can have fishing poles anywhere I want. Nobody has to

say on my land, privately owned.” RP 57. The prosecutor later asked him if, after he had been handcuffed, he talked to the officers about having a firearm, and his response was “I can have firearms.” RP 60. When asked if he had been charged in 2009 with unlawfully possessing a firearm, he replied, “I have gun rights.” RP 62. He said he had been convicted of that charge “[i]llegally. I have gun rights. And it still says it.” RP 62. When the question was whether he had been told it was unlawful for him to possess firearms because he was a convicted felon, he answered, “I have gun rights, felon in possession with gun rights.” . . . “No, I got gun rights. You didn’t take them due to the circumstances.” RP 63. Finally:

THE PROSECUTOR: No other questions.

THE DEFENDANT: I have gun rights.

RP 64. A reading of the entirety of Englund’s testimony shows a similar inability to answer direct questions, and an unfounded but steadfast insistence on claiming his right to possess firearms. RP 55-64. Even after the evidentiary portion of the hearing, while the court was articulating its ruling that all of his statements were admissible, Englund interjected comments. See RP 67, 72.

Englund refused to sign the order setting the dates for the trial and other hearings, entered on May 2, 2013, and the consolidated omnibus order dated May 16, 2013. CP 64, 75-78.

b. Englund's behavior at the trial.

The conclusion that Englund would not be able to conduct an orderly trial was confirmed during the bench trial itself. During questioning of State witnesses, Englund continued to make comments. See RP 138-142, 178-79, 246, 272. Englund testified in his defense, and he continued his practice of giving answers that did not match the questions. For example, when his counsel asked him if he was a good enough shot that, had he intended to hurt the people in the truck, he would have been able to do so, he responded, "I did what they did to me because they did it first." RP 300. A short time later, this exchange took place on cross-examination:

Q: That's where you live?

A: Yeah. I'm the owner.

Q: Now, it was loaded at the time?

A: I keep them loaded, yes, keep them loaded.

Q: I'm asking if it was loaded.

A: Yes. I have them loaded. I live by myself. It's the law.

Q: So you keep it loaded normally; is that right?

A: I can if I want to.

Q: How did you obtain that .22 caliber that you had that . . .

A: I've had them for a long time.

Q: The—back in October when this officer took that gun, did you have at that time other guns on your property?

A: He just took that one.

Q: I know that's what he took. My question is, did you have other guns on your property at that time?

A: He didn't want any other ones.

Q: That's not my question, Mr. Englund. I'm asking if you had other guns on your property besides that one in October.

A: I think so. Yeah, pretty sure I did.

RP 305-06. Still later on cross-examination, in response to a question about whether he wanted to shoot at Christensen's vehicle, he responded:

No. I did what they did. You ought to see what the officers do when they screw up a little bit. They take their guns out and shoot you right and leave a mess with you if you assault them on your vehicles or anything.

RP 318.

At the conclusion of the evidentiary portion of the trial, the court explained its decision, but Englund tried to argue with the judge. RP 347-48, 350.

c. The efficient administration of justice.

A trial court has the discretionary authority to manage its own affairs so as to achieve an orderly and expeditious disposition of cases. Woodhead v. Discount Waterbeds, 78 Wn. App. 125, 129, 896 P.2d 66 (1995). As noted earlier in this argument, the right to represent oneself does not allow a defendant to “abuse the dignity of the courtroom,” or fail to comply with procedural rules and substantive law. Faretta, 422 U.S. at 834. While a defendant cannot be prevented from representing himself on the grounds that he lacks legal knowledge or skills, he can be prevented from interfering with the efficient administration of justice. Id. at 836; Stenson, 132 Wn. App. at 738. Even the right to be present at trial can be denied because of a defendant’s persistent disruptive conduct. See Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 339, 90 S. Ct. 1057, 25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1970). Those cases in which the reviewing court has upheld the right of a defendant to represent himself involve records showing no disruption or disrespect on the part of the

defendant. State v. Hemenway, 122 Wn. App. 787, 795, 95 P.3d 408 (2004). While the State does not argue that Englund's behavior equaled the disruptive behavior of Hemenway, it certainly was sufficient to make a jury trial, which was the expectation at the time the ruling was made, an unmanageable procedure.

d. Mental capacity to conduct a defense.

Even if the trial court in this instance denied England's motion to proceed pro se because he would be unable to defend himself, that is not necessarily prohibited. While it is true that a court may not deny self-representation because of a lack of legal training or skills, it may take into account his mental capacity and whether or not that will have "serious and negative effects" on the ability to defend himself. In re Pers. Restraint of Rhome, 172 Wn.2d 654, 669, 260 P.3d 874 (2011). "A trial court may consider a defendant's mental health history and status when competency has been questioned, even where the defendant has been found competent to stand trial." Id. at 667. Judges are to be sensitive to mental health issues when ruling on a motion to waive counsel, but a separate evaluation of competency to represent oneself is not required. Id. at 666. As always, the trial court's decision is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id. In Rhome, the court cited



with approval cases discussing the duty of the trial court to protect not only a defendant's right to represent himself but also other countervailing constitutional rights.

[A] trial court's discretionary decision to accept a waiver of counsel in favor of pro se representation allows consideration of the impact such a waiver will have on countervailing rights. . . Although [the trial judge] could have expressly included a discussion of such concerns in his colloquy, the absence of such discussion does not make his decision to grant Rhome's waiver an abuse of discretion.

Rhome, 172 Wn.2d at 669.

In Rhome, the defendant had been granted the right to represent himself at trial, and complained on collateral attack that both the state and federal constitutions require the court to enter specific findings of fact that a defendant is competent to waive his right to counsel and represent himself. The court disagreed with him and affirmed his conviction, but, as noted above, discussed that a finding of competency to stand trial does not necessarily mean that the defendant must be allowed to represent himself. Citing to State v. Kolocotronis, 73 Wn.2d 92, 436 P.2d 774 (1968) and State v. Hahn, 106 Wn.2d 885, 725 P.2d 25 (1986), the court concluded that those cases allow a trial court to consider a defendant's competency to represent himself at trial even where he

has been found competent to stand trial. A trial court may consider “the background, experience, and conduct of the accused,” but not his judgment and skill. Rhome, 172 Wn.2d at 663.

It is true that the court in Englund’s case did not make a particularly extensive record of its reasons for denying his motion to represent himself, but viewing the record as a whole and considering the exposure the court had to his behavior, it is a reasonable conclusion that the court believed that his mental issues would prevent him from conducting himself in an orderly manner during trial or following the orders of the court. It is also apparent from the record that Englund’s mental difficulties impaired his ability to represent himself. A reviewing court will sustain a trial court’s ruling on any appropriate ground supported by the record, even if not the ground identified by the court. Fritz, 21 Wn. App. at 364.

Because it was apparent to the court, and supported by the record, that Englund would not be able to represent himself at trial without significantly disrupting the order of the courtroom and that he would not follow the orders of the court that he could not argue a position contrary to the law, the court did not err by denying Englund’s motion to proceed pro se.

2. There was no violation of Englund's CrR 3.3 right to a speedy trial.

Englund maintains that when the court continued his trial date past February 19, 2013, his right to a speedy trial as guaranteed by CrR 3.3 was violated. He does not claim a constitutional speedy trial right violation. He further argues that the sole reason the court granted the continuance was to permit time for a new attorney to be appointed and become familiar with the case. He claims that since the court abused its discretion in denying his motion for a new attorney, it therefore follows that it violated his right to a speedy trial by continuing the trial date to March 11, 2013. Appellant's Opening Brief 28-29. He maintains that the speedy trial time expired on February 24, 2013. Appellant's Opening Brief 28.

On January 30, 2013, the court addressed the motion of Richard Woodrow to withdraw as Englund's attorney. At that time, Englund apparently made his first request to represent himself. 01/30/13 RP 4. The court did not deny his motion for self representation at that time, but deferred a decision, requiring him to file his motion in writing. 01/30/RP 6. The State, however, was concerned about the fast-approaching trial dates of February 11

and 19, 2013, and moved the court to extend them. 01/30/13 RP 6-8. The court found good cause to continue because Englund had no representation and the decision had not been made whether he would represent himself or not. 01/30/13 RP 9-10. Implicit in that decision is the realization that whether there was a new attorney appointed or Englund represented himself, there was insufficient time to prepare for trial by February 11 or 19. The trials were both set for the week of March 11, 2013. 01/30/13 RP 11. Englund did not file a written objection to the new trial date or note a hearing on an objection to the trial date.

The court ordered that Englund submit to a competency evaluation. The original order was entered on February 20, an amended order was entered on February 28, and an order finding Englund competent was entered on May 2, 2013. CP 2, 59-61, 65. Englund does not assign error to the court's order of a competency evaluation, nor does he claim error because speedy time was tolled while the competency evaluation was pending.

a. The court's continuance of the trial dates from February 11 and 19 to March 11 had no effect on his right to speedy trial under CrR 3.3.

Englund asserts that his speedy trial period pursuant to CrR 3.3 expired on February 24, 2013. Appellant's Opening Brief at 28.

Even though the court, on January 30, entered an order extending the trial date to March 11, an order for a competency evaluation was entered on February 20, four days before the speedy trial time, as calculated by Englund, would have expired. The time between the entry of an order for a competency evaluation and an order finding competency is excluded from the computation of elapsed speedy trial time. CrR 3.3(e)(1). The order of finding competency was entered on May 2, restarting the speedy trial time. There were four days remaining of the speedy trial time when the order for a competency evaluation was signed. When a period of time is excluded pursuant to CrR 3.3(e), the time for trial extends another 30 days beyond the excluded period. CrR 3.3(b)(5). Therefore, once an order finding competency was entered on May 2, the speedy trial time extended until June 5, 2013. The trial began on May 28 and concluded on May 29, 2013. CP 117-121. Even if Englund were correct that the continuance of his trial date until March 11 would have violated his court rule right to a speedy trial, that did not in fact happen. The intervening competency inquiry rendered the continuance moot. There was no violation of his CrR 3.3 right to a speedy trial.

b. Englund did not move to reset the trial date within ten days of January 30, 2013, nor did he move to dismiss the prosecution.

A defendant cannot rely on CrR 3.3 on appeal if he never sought dismissal in the trial court based upon a violation of the rule.

CrR 3.3(d)(3) provides that a party who objects to a trial date on speedy trial grounds must, within 10 days of notice of the trial date, move the court to set trial within the time limits of the rule. A party who fails to make such a motion “for any reason” loses the right to object to the trial date on the grounds it is outside the time limits of the rule. *Id.* Further, the party must seek dismissal in the trial court on the grounds of a court rule speedy trial violation before he can raise the issue on appeal. State v. Barton, 28 Wn. App. 690, 693, 626 P.2d 509, *review denied*, 95 Wn.2d 1027 (1981).

With the exception of jurisdictional and constitutional issues, appellate courts will review only issues which the record shows have been argued and decided at the trial court. . . CrR 3.3 does not create a constitutional right, . . . nor is it jurisdictional. Although the rule is to be strictly enforced, it is nonetheless a procedural rule. The right to a dismissal for a violation of CrR 3.3 may be waived if not timely presented. . . .

The court's obligation to dismiss a prosecution for violation of CrR 3.3 is triggered by a motion by the defendant.

Id. (internal citations omitted).

A motion to the trial court gives that court the opportunity to consider any excluded periods, determine if the time period has indeed elapsed, and make a record of its rulings for appellate review. When that does not happen, there is no error before the appellate court to review. Id. at 694.

c. Good cause supported the court's continuance.

Even if Englund could raise a challenge to the court's order continuing the trial date past February 24, and even if it were not rendered moot by the stay for the competency evaluation, the continuance was proper.

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